

MODIFICATION REQUEST:

Mixed Use Development at 78-90 Old Canterbury Road, Lewisham Concept Plan

MP 08_0195 MOD 1

Modifications to the Concept Plan Approval



Director-General's Environmental Assessment Report Section 75W of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act* 1979

June 2013

© Crown copyright 2013 Published June 2013 NSW Department of Planning & Infrastructure www.planning.nsw.gov.au

Disclaimer:

While every reasonable effort has been made to ensure that this document is correct at the time of publication, the State of New South Wales, its agents and employees, disclaim any and all liability to any person in respect of anything or the consequences of anything done or omitted to be done in reliance upon the whole or any part of this document.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	BACKGROUND		2
	1.1	Site Description	2
	1.2	Previous Approvals	2
2.		OSED MODIFICATION	5
3.	STATU	JTORY CONTEXT	7
	3.1	Continuing Operation of Part 3A to Modify Approvals	7
	3.2	Modification of a Minister's Approval	7
	3.3	Environmental Assessment Requirements	7
	3.4	Delegated Authority	7
4.	CONS	ULTATION AND SUBMISSIONS	7
	4.1	Public Authority Submissions	8
	4.2	Public Submissions	8
	4.3	Proponent's Response to Submissions	9
	4.4	Further Submissions	9
5.	ASSESSMENT		10
	5.1	Affordable Housing	10
	5.2	Solar Access	12
	5.3	William and Brown Streets Road / Footpath Widths	14
	5.4	Location of Loading Dock	15
	5.5	Conversion of ground floor spaces	16
	5. 6	Other Issues	17
6 .		LUSION	20
7.		MMENDATION	21
	ENDIX		22
			23
AFF			24

i

1. BACKGROUND

The purpose of this report is to assess a request to modify an approved Concept Plan (MP 08_0195) for residential development at 78-90 Old Canterbury Road, Lewisham pursuant to Section 75W of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act* 1979 (EP&A Act).

The Proponent seeks approval for a number of changes to the Concept Plan approval consisting of minor adjustments to the alignment of the space between Buildings A and B, the introduction of the concept of "dual use" live-work spaces to provide flexibility in providing ground floor retail / commercial floor space, changes to solar access requirements, clarification around the provision of affordable housing, treatment of the public domain, relocation of the loading dock and the amendment of various conditions of the approval and Statement of Commitments.

1.1 Site Description

The subject site is located within an area in the Marrickville LGA known as the McGill Street Precinct, which is near the boundary of the Ashfield LGA. The site has frontages to Old Canterbury Road, Longport Street, Hudson Street, Brown Street and William Street. Its western boundary is delineated by the light rail corridor.

The site is illustrated in Figures 1 and 2 below.



Figure 1: Site location (Source: Google Maps, 2011)

1.2 Previous Approvals

On 15 March 2012, the Planning Assessment Commission (PAC) approved a Concept Plan for the following:

- use of the site for residential, retail, commercial and public open space;
- indicative building envelopes for 7 separate buildings with heights ranging from 4 to 10 storeys;
- basement and at grade car parking;
- internal and external road works; and
- public pedestrian and cycle pathways providing connections to the surrounding area, the Lewisham railway station and Lewisham West light rail stop.



Figure 2: Aerial photograph of the site and locality (Source: Near Maps, May 2013)

As part of its approval, the PAC imposed a number of modifications and future assessment requirements including:

- minimum area for the central open space of 3,000m² with a minimum depth north of Hudson Street of 20 metres;
- at least 50% of the central open space must receive a minimum 2 hours solar access in mid-winter;
- future development applications to achieve design excellence in accordance with the Director-General's Design Excellence Guidelines; and
- 4 storey maximum building height to the Old Canterbury Road frontage.

The approved Concept Plan is shown in Figure 3.

To date the Concept Plan has been modified as follows:

• On 13 February 2013, **MOD 2** was approved by the then Deputy Director-General, Development Assessment and Systems Performance to amend the timing of the Voluntary Planning Agreement.

Director-General's Environmental Assessment Report



Figure 3: Approved Concept Plan

2. PROPOSED MODIFICATION

The application as submitted proposed substantial modifications to a number of aspects of the Concept Plan including changes to the vehicular access, redistribution of publicly accessible open space and private open space, variation of solar access requirements, the deletion of the commitments to the provision of affordable housing, public art and the achievement of design excellence.

In response to submissions from Council and concerns raised by the Department, the Proponent amended the request for modification, which included reverting to the "as approved" Concept Plan in the following areas:

- vehicular access arrangements;
- publicly accessible open space to preserve pedestrian / cyclist through-site links;
- public art; and
- design excellence.

The Proponent also provided further information in relation to ESD, affordable rental housing, solar access to apartments and road / footpath widths in William Street.

The revised application seeks approval for amendments to the Concept Approval and the Statement of Commitments, in relation to the following:

- minor adjustments to the alignment of the space between Buildings A and B;
- reduction in the size of the central open space from 3,054.4m² to 3,002.1m²;
- modulation of approved building heights;
- changes to the land use plan:
 - redefinition of the ground floor uses in Buildings A, C and G to be retail and commercial. It is proposed to make provision for these spaces to be "dual use", enabling them to be used for either residential or non-residential; and
 - deletion of the requirement for non-residential land use along the north-south access road.
- vary the minimum solar access requirements from a minimum of 3 hours between 9.00am and 3.00pm in mid-winter to a range of between 2 and 3 hours;
- clarify the manner of providing the component of affordable housing within the development;
- reduce the solar access requirements to primary living spaces from a minimum of 3 hours between 9.00am and 3.00pm in mid-winter to 2 hours;
- amendment to requirement for widening of the footpaths in William Street to adjust the footpath requirements; and
- amendment to requirement for all future applications to demonstrate that all necessary approvals have been obtained from Sydney Airports Commission and Air Services Australia.

The proposed Concept Plan layout is shown in Figure 4.

The Department has considered these issues as part of its assessment of the proposed modification (Section 5).





Figure 4: Proposed Concept Plan (Source: Proponent's Section 75W application)

3. STATUTORY CONTEXT

3.1 Continuing Operation of Part 3A to Modify Approvals

In accordance with clause 3 of Schedule 6A of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979*, section 75W of the EP&A Act as in force immediately before its repeal on 1 October 2011 and as modified by Schedule 6A, continues to apply to transitional Part 3A projects.

Consequently, this report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Part 3A and associated regulations, and the Minister (or his delegate) may approve or disapprove of the modification to the project under section 75W of the EP&A Act.

3.2 Modification of a Minister's Approval

The modification application has been lodged with the Director-General pursuant to section 75W of the EP&A Act. Section 75W provides for the modification of a Minister's approval including *"revoking or varying a condition of the approval or imposing an additional condition of the approval."*

The Minister's approval of a modification is not required if the project as modified will be consistent with the existing approval. However, in this instance, the proposal seeks to modify terms of approval imposed on the Concept Plan, and therefore, approval is required.

3.3 Environmental Assessment Requirements

Section 75W(3) of the EP&A Act provides that the Director-General may notify the Proponent of the Director-General's Environmental Assessment Requirements (DGRs) with respect to the proposed modification that the Proponent must comply with before the matter will be considered by the Minister.

No additional environmental assessment requirements were issued with respect to the proposed modifications, as sufficient information was provided to the Department in order to consider the application and the issues raised remain consistent with the key assessment requirements addressed in the original DGRs.

3.4 Delegated Authority

The Minister has delegated his functions to determine Part 3A applications to the Planning Assessment Commission (PAC) where an application has been made by persons other than by or on behalf of a public authority.

The application is being referred to the PAC for determination as Marrickville Council has made a submission in the nature of an objection to the proposal.

4. CONSULTATION AND SUBMISSIONS

Under section 75W of the Act, a request to modify an approval does not require public exhibition. However under 75X(2)(f) of the Act, the Director-General is required to make the request for modification of the approval publicly available.

The Department publicly exhibited the application. The exhibition commenced on 23 January and concluded on 1 March 2013 (37 days) and was available on the Department's website, at the Department's Information Centre and at the Marrickville Council Administration Centre. The Department also advertised the public exhibition in the Sydney Morning Herald, the Daily Telegraph and the Inner West Courier on 23 January 2013 and notified nearby land owners and relevant State and local government authorities in writing.

The Department received 14 submissions in response to the exhibition of the modification request – 4 submissions from public authorities, 2 submissions from local interest / community groups and 8 submissions from the general public.

The Proponent's PPR / response to submissions made a number of amendments to the modification request and proposed an additional modification by providing a loading dock beneath the eastern end of the Building D envelope.

Having regard to the changes to the proposal the Department referred the PPR to Marrickville Council for comment and notified the residents / property owners in the block bounded by Old Canterbury Road, Longport, William and Brown Streets specifically in relation to the loading dock. Council provided further comments and a further 3 submissions were received from property owners.

A summary of the issues raised in the submissions is provided below.

4.1 **Public Authority Submissions**

Four submissions were received from public authorities, including Marrickville Council, Ashfield Council, Roads and Maritime Services and Transport for NSW.

Marrickville Council advised that it did not support a number of the proposed modifications, including the changes to the quantity/location of publicly accessible open space and private open space, the car park access, specifically the ramp along the western boundary, the reduction in the footpath width along William Street, the conversion of ground floor retail/commercial space to residential and the reduction in the solar access requirement from 3 hours to 2 hours.

Council also raised objection to the proposed deletion of the commitments to provide beyond-BASIX energy efficiency initiatives, affordable rental housing, public art and deletion of the requirement to comply with the Director-General's Design Excellence Guidelines.

Ashfield Council raised concern in relation to the proposed ramp along the western property boundary in terms of the likely poor urban design outcome, particularly in terms of its relationship to the Light Rail / deferred Greenway corridor; and the proposal to eliminate the ground floor commercial uses from Buildings A, C and E on the basis that such uses are essential for the "activation" of the Hudson Street open space corridor.

Roads and Maritime Services did not raise any concerns in relation to the proposed modifications.

Transport for NSW (Transport Projects) raised a number of issues in relation to the design and operation of the roundabout in Hudson Street; the proposed ramp to the basement car park, particularly the physical barrier to pedestrian / cycle movements along the western edge of the site; and the apparent reduction in pedestrian / cyclist permeability through the site.

4.2 **Public Submissions**

A total of 10 submissions were received from the public, including 2 from special interest groups. All the public submissions objected to the proposal. The key issues raised in the objections include:

- need to maintain requirement for design excellence;
- traffic and access;
- poor urban design outcome associated with proposed western vehicle ramp;
- inadequate pedestrian / cyclist permeability and through-site links;
- amenity issues solar access, ESD initiatives, public art;
- affordable rental housing; and

• footpath widths.

The Department has considered the issues raised in the submissions in its assessment at **Section 5** of the report.

4.3 **Proponent's Response to Submissions**

On 23 April 2013, the Proponent amended the modification request in response to issues raised in the submissions by reverting to the "as approved" Concept Plan by deleting the following from the application:

- vehicular access arrangements;
- publicly accessible open space to preserve pedestrian / cyclist through-site links;
- public art; and
- design excellence.

It should be noted that no further discussion is provided as part of this assessment in relation to the abovementioned items.

Further information was provided by the Proponent in relation to the following:

- solar access to the apartments on 3 May 2013;
- road / footpath widths in William Street on 20 May 2013;
- use of ground floor spaces in Buildings A, C, E and G on 20 June 2013; and
- affordable rental housing on 20 June 2013.

4.4 Further Submissions

Marrickville Council provided further comments in response to the Proponent's Response to Submissions which acknowledged that some of its previous concerns had been addressed. However, the following matters have not been resolved to Council's satisfaction:

- reduction in the width of the William Street footpath;
- conversion of retail space to residential;
- provision of affordable housing; and
- variation of the solar access requirements.

Two additional submissions were received from the public in response to the re-notification which raised concerns about the accuracy of the documentation accompanying the application, the ability of William and Brown Streets to accommodate two-way traffic and on-street parking, noise impacts associated with the relocated loading dock and concern about road widening at the corner of Longport Street and Old Canterbury Road.

5. ASSESSMENT

The Department considers the key assessment issues for the proposed modification to be:

- provision of affordable housing;
- solar access;
- road / footpath widths in William Street;
- location of the loading dock; and
- conversion of ground floor spaces.

5.1 Affordable Housing

The Statement of Commitments which forms part of the Concept Plan approval commits to provide affordable housing units in the future redevelopment of the site. The commitment also stated that the quantum of units proposed would be resolved under future Project / Development Applications.

The Proponent originally sought to have the commitment for Affordable Housing to be deleted on the basis that there is no statutory requirement or mandated policy for affordable housing provision. In response to concerns raised by Council and the Department, the Proponent's PPR confirms the commitment to provide a component of affordable housing. However it further seeks to amend this Commitment to clarify the mechanism for providing affordable housing within the development, through either participation in the National Rental Affordability Scheme (NRAS) or another similar scheme.

The NRAS is an Australian Government program to invest in affordable rental housing. The scheme addresses the shortage of affordable rental housing by offering tax-free financial incentives per annum (indexed annually) for each approved dwelling rented at 20% below current market rates for a period of 10 years.

Properties which qualify for participation in the NRAS are located in potential high growth areas, with a strong rental demand or an under supply of rental stock. To qualify for the scheme the dwellings must be brand new, self-contained, built to the highest standards, and be indistinguishable from equivalent properties in the market.

Participants who are approved by the scheme may build, own, finance or manage NRAS dwellings.

Council's comment

In its submission to the PPR, Council raised concern that the wording of the amended commitment lacks clarity and that affordable dwelling numbers are not specified, nor is there any clear indication as to the method of providing the affordable housing.

Council has expressed the view that a commitment to the quantum of affordable housing should be included in the Statement of Commitments and recommends that the rate be calculated using the model employed in other contemporary environmental planning instruments (for example, Sydney LEP 2012), being 3% of residential floor space and 1% of non-residential floor space.

Council has raised concern about the Proponent's statement that the affordable housing may be provided under the NRAS. Whilst the Proponent is able to apply to participate in the NRAS, there is potential uncertainty about when this would occur and whether such an application would be successful. Council argues that the provision of affordable housing should not be tied to the applicant being approved as a provider under the NRAS.

Council has therefore advised that it would prefer to accept a cash contribution in lieu of floor space based on the value of the floor space calculated in accordance with the abovementioned rates and Council has recommended that details of this arrangement should be included in the VPA for the development.

Department's comment

In its original assessment and as agreed by the PAC, the Department considered that the Statement of Commitment to provide affordable housing (the quantum of which would be resolved as part of future applications) to be acceptable. Noting that this issue is now being considered in more detail, the Department supports Council's view that a rate of provision for affordable housing should be stipulated in the Concept Approval as it provides a degree of certainty for all parties.

In response to the above noted concerns from Council and also in further negotiation with the Department, the Proponent has clarified that it will provide 3% of the total dwelling yield as affordable housing. Further, it has clarified that this housing will be provided through the NRAS or alternatively be provided at a 20% rental discount for a period of 7 years.

In consideration of the proposed 3% provision of dwelling yield, the Department examined Council's comments and other similar schemes, as discussed below.

Applying the rate recommended by Marrickville Council of 3% of residential floor space and 1% of non-residential floor space equates to approximately 960m² which translates to approximately 17 dwellings, assuming an average size per unit of 55m².

The affordable housing provision offered by the recently approved Allied Mills project (located to the west of the site) which has Concept Approval for a yield of between 280 and 300 dwellings is 10 dwellings, equating to 3 - 3.5% of total dwelling yield.

In view of the close proximity of the Allied Mills and Lewisham developments and the similarities in terms of housing typology and the large scale of both projects, the Department considers it reasonable to apply a comparable rate for the provision of affordable housing.

Applying a 3% rate to the total dwelling yield for the Lewisham Estate project (based on a current yield of 362 apartments) would result in an affordable housing component of 11 dwellings.

The Department therefore considers that the provision of affordable housing at a rate of 3% of the total dwelling yield is acceptable.

In relation to the mechanism for providing the affordable units, the Department notes that there is a range of models available for the delivery including:

- participation in the NRAS; or
- transfer of management of affordable housing units to community housing providers; or
- dedication of affordable housing units to council; or
- contributions in lieu.

The Department considers that the underlying commitment to provide affordable housing is consistent with the original Concept Plan approval that was supported by the PAC. This is now reinforced by the inclusion of a specific rate (3% of dwelling yield) which establishes the quantum of affordable housing provided as part of the development.

Whilst noting the various options and models available to facilitate the delivery of the affordable housing component, the Department considers that it is appropriate that the dwellings be provided on site as part of the development. This is consistent with the approach adopted for the Allied Mills development and is considered to be an environmentally and socially

responsible approach having regard to the nature of the development and its proximity to a range of transport options, employment, services and facilities.

The Department notes that the Proponent's offer of a 20% reduced rental discount for a period of 7 years is not consistent with the same discount over a 10 year period that is provided for under the NRAS. The Department therefore does not support the Proponent's offer as it appears to provide an inconsistent and potentially substandard approach to the provision of affordable housing.

The detail associated with arrangements for the supply of affordable housing and also the identification of these units and their distribution throughout the development is most appropriately resolved between the Proponent and Council, as part of future development applications.

Having regard to the above, the Department recommends the inclusion of the following future assessment requirement:

Affordable Rental Housing

28. Future Development Applications shall demonstrate the provision of affordable rental housing equivalent to 3% of total dwelling yield.

The Proponent shall ensure that the appropriate arrangements are made to provide the affordable housing units on site to Council's satisfaction.

5.2 Solar Access

The Concept Plan approval requires that 70% of dwellings be provided with a minimum of 3 hours solar access between 9.00am and 3.00pm in mid-winter. The proposal seeks to vary the solar access requirement from a minimum of 3 hours to a range of between 2 and 3 hours.

Proponent's justification

The Proponent has advised that at the time the original Concept Plan was prepared, the plans had insufficient detail to undertake an accurate solar study for each dwelling. However a conceptual study was undertaken which indicated that 73% of the dwellings could achieve a minimum of 3 hours solar access.

The project has since been the subject of detailed design development and apartment layouts, balconies and other variations in the facades have been finalised. This has been the subject of a more detailed modelling exercise, which now indicates that the solar access performance across the development is as follows:

Building No.	Hours Solar Access / number of units (%)	
Α	3 hours / 55 units (74%)	
В	2 hours / 42 units (70%)	
С	2 hours / 45 units (70%)	
D	2.5 hours / 48 units (75%)	
E	2.5 hours / 28 units (70%)	
F	2.5 hours / 27 units (75%)	
G	2 hours / 18 units (75%)	

Council's comment

Council maintains its objection to the variation of this requirement on the basis that an inability to achieve the Concept Plan requirement of 3 hours solar access to a minimum of 70% of apartments between 9.00am and 3.00pm in mid-winter reflects the excessive scale of the development.

Although the modification would comply with Council's DCP requirements for solar access (2 hours of sunlight access to 65% of apartments between 9.00am and 3.00pm in mid-winter), Council has advised that it would like to see a higher standard applied to this development, which could be achieved if the scale of the development was appropriate. The fact that surrounding development is of lower density adds further argument for a higher solar access standard to be achieved.

Department's comment

In its original assessment of the Concept Plan the Department noted the ability for the scheme to provide 3 hours of solar access and included a future assessment requirement to this effect.

The Department notes that the RFDC indicates that in higher density urban areas at least 70% of apartments should receive a minimum of 2 hours direct sunlight access between 9.00am and 3.00pm in mid-winter.

The Proponent's analysis demonstrates that 55 dwellings or 15% of the total number of apartments can achieve 3 hours solar access and a further 28% receive a minimum of 2.5 hours, resulting in 43% of apartments achieving between 2.5 and 3 hours of solar access to primary living areas and private open space in mid-winter. Calculated across the entire development, 263 dwellings or 73% of apartments receive a minimum of 2 hours solar access, which satisfies the rule of thumb set out in the RFDC.

The Department acknowledges Council's comments regarding the low density character of the surrounding area. The Department notes however that the approved Concept Plan is for a high density urban environment and sits within a wider high density precinct (McGill Street Precinct).

Having regard to the urban context of the site, its orientation and the density of the approved development, the Department considers the variation to the solar access, within the parameters described above, to be reasonable. Noting that the proposed level of solar access to the dwellings exceeds the requirements of both the RFDC rules of thumb and Council's DCP requirements, it is considered that future residents will achieve a good level of internal amenity in this regard.

It is recommended that the Concept Plan Approval be amended in the following manner:

Residential Amenity

- 4. Future Development Applications shall demonstrate compliance with the provisions of the State Environmental Planning Policy 65 – Design Quality of Residential Flat Development (SEPP 65) and the accompanying Residential Flat Design Code 2002, except where modified by this Concept Plan approval. In particular, future applications shall demonstrate that:
 - (a) a minimum of 70% of apartments within each building receive a minimum of 3 hours solar access to living areas and balconies mid winter; and
 - (a) at least 70% of apartments within the Building A envelope shall receive a minimum of 3 hours solar access to living areas and balconies in mid winter;
 - (b) at least 70% of apartments within Building envelopes D, E and F shall receive a minimum of 2.5 hours solar access to living areas and balconies in mid winter;
 - (c) at least 70% of apartments within Building envelopes B, C and G shall receive a minimum of 2 hours solar access to living areas and balconies in mid winter; and
 - (b)(d)a minimum of 60% of apartments within each building are capable of being naturally cross ventilated.

5.3 William and Brown Streets Road / Footpath Widths

The Concept Plan approval requires that William and Brown Streets shall be a minimum of 9.6 metres wide, comprising a 6 metre wide carriageway (as exists) and the provision of 1.8 metre wide footpaths on each side.

The proposal seeks to amend the requirements associated with road and footpath widths in William and Brown Streets to delete the requirement to provide a 1.8 metre wide footpath on the northern side of William Street and the eastern side of Brown Street. The Proponent has however confirmed that it will provide a 1.8 metre wide path, associated kerbs and gutters on the southern side of William Street and the western side of Brown Street, adjacent to the site.

Proponent's justification

The Proponent has indicated that it is unreasonable to require the provision of a 1.8 metre pedestrian path on the northern side of William Street and on the eastern side of Brown Street given that this part of the McGill Street Precinct (block defined by Old Canterbury Road, Longport Street, William Street and Brown Street) is yet to be developed.

Council's comment

Council has confirmed that the provision of a 1.8m wide footpath on the southern side of William Street is required, but that the existing carriageway and footpath on the northern side can be maintained at their current widths. No comment was made in relation to Brown Street.

Department's comment

In its assessment of the original Concept Plan, the Department required the provision of 1.8 metre wide footpaths on both sides of William and Brown Streets in anticipation of the additional pedestrian activity in the higher density environment and on the basis that it would be consistent with footpath widths elsewhere in the McGill Street Precinct.

In reviewing this issue, it is noted that the block bounded by Old Canterbury Road, Longport Street, William Street and Brown Street is also part of the McGill Street Precinct and as such may be redeveloped for a high density residential development. Accordingly, the Department considers that the construction of new 1.8 metre wide footpaths on the northern side of William Street and the eastern side of Brown Street may reasonably be borne by any (future) developer of the land to the north of the Concept Plan site.

It is noted that this arrangement may require the dedication of land from the Concept Plan site along both the William and Brown Street frontages. The mechanism for this dedication may be resolved as part of the assessment of the future development application with Council.

It is recommended that the Concept Plan be modified to reflect these arrangements, as follows:

Road Works

- 18. Future Development Applications shall provide for minimum road widths as follows:
 - (a) William and Brown Streets shall be a minimum of 9.6 metres (6 metre carriageway and 1.8 metre footpaths on each side);
 - (a) The William Street carriageway shall be a minimum of 6 metres. A new 1.8 metre wide footpath shall be constructed along the southern side of the street along the entire length of the Concept Plan site;
 - (b) The Brown Street carriageway shall be a minimum of 6 metres. A new 1.8 metre wide footpath shall be constructed along the western side of the street along the entire length of the Concept Plan site;
 - (b)(c)Hudson Street shall be a minimum of 6 to 8.5 metres (6 metre carriageway and 2.5 metre indented parking bays); and

NSW Government Department of Planning & Infrastructure (e)(d) the north-south street (private road) shall be a minimum of 9.5 metres (5.5 metre carriageway, 3 metre footpath on the eastern side and 1 metre footpath on the western side).

Note: Appropriate arrangements shall be made for those parts of the new footpaths on the southern side of William Street and the western side of Brown Street that are currently on private land, to be dedicated to Council.

5.4 Location of Loading Dock

In its determination of the Concept Plan, the PAC imposed a modification (Condition B2 Schedule 2) on the approval which required the deletion of the loading facilities shown on the Longport Street frontage at the north western corner of the site, adjacent to the Building D envelope and the light rail corridor. Amended plans demonstrating compliance with this modification were required to be submitted to and approved by, the Director-General.

The Proponent now seeks to provide a loading dock on the ground floor at the eastern end of the Building D envelope, on the Brown Street frontage of the site (**Figure 5**).

Proponent's justification

A range of options for the location of these facilities has been investigated and having regard to the site constraints. The eastern end of Building D (on the Brown Street frontage of the site) has been identified as the best possible location.

Council's comment

Council notes the proposed location for the loading area and has assumed that the primary waste collection area would also be located at this point. Council supports this arrangement in principle, providing the area is appropriately designed to minimise visual and other impacts on the public domain and existing/future residents. Council also notes that William and Brown Streets will also need to be treated in a manner to ensure the safe movement (and parking) or trucks, cars, pedestrians and cyclists.

Public submissions

A number of residents in the block bounded by Old Canterbury Road, Longport, William and Brown Streets raised concerns about the proposed location of the loading dock, primarily in terms of the potential for conflict between commercial vehicles and resident's cars and noise impacts.

Department's comment

Council's in principle support to the location of the loading dock is noted.

The Department notes that William and Brown Streets are limited to left-in / left-out traffic movement and will operate primarily as access roads to the basement car park. As all parking for residents and visitors to the Concept Plan site is provided within the basement, it is unlikely the development will generate additional demand (beyond existing) for on-street parking.

The existing form and function of William Street / Brown Street is typical of small roads in the Inner West which fulfill a service function. The Department is of the opinion that the location of the loading dock is appropriate in this context.

Notwithstanding the above, the Department notes that the design details, including vehicle manoeuvring areas will need to be resolved as part of future development applications. Accordingly the following additional future assessment requirement is recommended:

Loading Dock

- 29. Future development applications shall demonstrate a suitable design treatment to the loading dock on the ground floor, at the eastern end of Building D and which addresses the following matters:
 - (a) the means of minimising visual impacts on the public domain;
 - (b) noise management measures to preserve the amenity of adjoining dwellings, including proposed hours of operation;
 - (c) full details of swept paths demonstrating the ability of service vehicles to safely manoeuvre in and around the facility without adversely impacting traffic flows in William and Brown Streets.

5.5 **Conversion of ground floor spaces**

The Concept Plan approval made provision for approximately 643m² of ground floor retail floor space and 720m² of commercial floor space potentially able to be provided as live/work space in the ground floor of SOHO-style apartments.

The ground floor retail uses were approved adjacent to the main area of public open space and the light rail stop (Buildings A and C), while the commercial floor space was intended to be provided on the ground floor in Building E, which showed the entire ground floor of the building as potentially providing live/work space and in Building G on the Old Canterbury Road frontage.

The proposed modification involves redefining the specific requirements for ground floor retail and commercial floor space in Buildings A, E and G. In particular, the Proponent seeks approval to:

- delete ground floor retail / commercial in Building A along the western access road;
- introduce the concept of "dual use" spaces at the ground floor of Buildings E and G where they address Old Canterbury Road.

It should be noted that only configuration changes are proposed to the retail component on the ground floor of the southern end of Building A, adjacent to the light rail stop or the retail component on the ground floor of the southern end of Building C where it addresses the central park.

Figure 5 provides a comparison between the approved Concept Plan and the amended land use arrangement.

Proponent's Justification

The deletion of the requirement for non-residential space at ground floor in Building A along the western access road is sought on the basis of there being a likelihood of lesser pedestrian traffic, thereby potentially compromising the viability of such space.

Dual use spaces are a universal design practice that ensures a space can be used or easily adapted for use as either residential or non-residential purposes. This practice allows important street level spaces to remain active and occupied. If retail or commercial space is in demand, these ground floor spaces would be used as such, but in times of lower demand for retail and / or commercial floor space, these areas can be occupied for residential purposes.

Council's comment

Council reiterated the importance of retaining the retail / commercial floor space on the ground floor at the southern end of Building A in the area fronting Hudson Street, which is required to serve the light rail station and activate the public park. It made no specific comment regarding Building C.

No objection was raised to the deletion of the requirement for non-residential space in Building A along the western access road.

In relation to the proposal for "dual use" space Council notes the rationale for allowing flexibility in converting retail to residential use and raises no objection to such conversion in any building provided that retail and / or commercial uses are retained on the ground floors of Buildings E and G fronting Old Canterbury Road to provide active uses in this part of the site.

Department's comment

Council's position in relation to the activation of the Old Canterbury Road frontage (ground floor of Buildings E and G) is noted. However the Department believes that the retail and commercial land uses at the ground floor of the buildings adjacent to the open space and light rail stop are more strategically important in ensuring the access to the light rail along the public open space is activated. Furthermore, in light of the through-site links it is likely that Old Canterbury Road will carry lesser volumes of pedestrian traffic.

The dual use approach to the Old Canterbury Road frontages of Buildings E and G has the advantage of ensuring that the ground floor of these buildings will be occupied and it is considered that the proposed dual use will allow for a flexible approach to ensure the uses better respond to changing demand. On this basis, the Department is prepared to support the proposed modification to allow "dual use" in these areas.

The Department also supports the proposal to delete the requirement for non-residential ground floor uses along the western internal access road.

5.6 Other Issues

A number of other issues were raised during the exhibition period and are discussed below.

5.6.1. ESD Requirements

A Commitment was provided as part of the Concept Plan approval that committed to the consideration of sustainability measures as detailed in the ESD Report which accompanied the original Environmental Assessment.

The Proponent seeks to amend the Commitment in relation to the scope of ESD initiatives to be employed in the development, by updating the reference to the ESD Report.

The Proponent has confirmed its commitment to the implementation of a range of ESD initiatives and has submitted a revised ESD Report which reflects the design development since the Concept Plan was approved.

Council has advised that it supports the proposed modification.

The revised ESD Report details the initiatives to be incorporated in the development, including building materials, methods of heating and cooling, energy efficiency and water conservation.

Having regard to the above and in light of Council's comment in this regard, the Department is satisfied that the proposal is consistent with the principles of ESD and that the revised ESD Report makes appropriate and relevant recommendations in relation to the proposed development.

It is recommended that the Future Assessment Requirements be amended as follows:

ESD

6. Future Development Applications shall demonstrate the incorporation of ESD principles in the design, construction and ongoing operation phases of the development, including the selection of fabric and materials, water conservation and management initiatives, and energy efficiency and renewable energy initiatives as detailed in the ESD report prepared by Efficient Living, dated 3 April 2013.

5.6.2. Publicly Accessible Open Space

Concern was raised by Council and in the public submissions in relation to changes to the quantity and location of publicly accessible open space and private open space.

The Proponent has confirmed as part of its Response to Submissions that the publicly accessible open space between Buildings C and F has been reinstated as originally approved in the Concept Plan to maintain pedestrian through-site links and optimise permeability of the scheme.

The Department is of the view that this issue has been satisfactorily resolved.



Figure 5: Comparison illustrating amendments to the Land Use Plan showing location of "dual use" spaces and location of proposed loading dock

5.6.3. Road Widening

A number of the public submissions raised concern about road widening being shown on the Concept Plan at the corner of Old Canterbury Road and Longport Street.

Marrickville Council has confirmed that there is no provision for road widening at this location. The Proponent has amended the Concept Plans accordingly.

5.6.4. Building A Footprint

Council raised concern that the amended Concept Plan appeared to alter the footprint at the southern end of Building A and encroach on sightlines to the light rail stop.

The Proponent has confirmed that there is no change to the southern end of the footprint of Building A and as a consequence, the Department considers that this issue has been resolved.

6. CONCLUSION

The Department has assessed the application and has considered the submissions and the Proponent's response to submissions. The key issues relate to:

- provision of affordable housing;
- solar access;
- road / footpath widths in William Street;
- location of the loading dock; and
- conversion of ground floor spaces.

The Department is satisfied that the proposed modification is acceptable, subject to the conditions recommended in the instrument of approval.

It is noted that the issues raised by Council regarding the quantum of affordable rental housing, the width of the footpaths in William and Brown Streets and the location of the loading dock have been satisfactorily resolved either by amended plans or through conditions recommended in the instrument of approval.

In relation to the solar access requirements and the proposed dual use of ground floor spaces in Buildings E and G, the Department is satisfied that the proposed modifications are reasonable having regard to the urban context of the site.

The Department supports the proposed modifications as outlined in this report and it is therefore recommended that the application be approved subject to the modified conditions.

7. RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning Assessment Commission:

- (a) Consider the findings and recommendations of this report;
- (b) **Approve** the modification, subject to modified terms of approval and conditions under Section 75W of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act* 1979; and
- (c) Sign the attached Instrument of Modification for MP 08_0195 (Appendix D).

Prepared by: Helen Mulcahy Planner, Metropolitan & Regional Projects South

Endorsed by:

.13.

Ben Lusher Acting Director Metropolitan & Regional Projects South

Ditto 27/6/13

David Kitto A/Executive Director Development Assessment Systems & Approvals

APPENDIX A MODIFICATION REQUEST

See the Department's website at: <u>http://majorprojects.planning.nsw.gov.au/index.pl?action=view_job&job_id=5694</u>

APPENDIX B SUBMISSIONS

See the Department's website at: http://majorprojects.planning.nsw.gov.au/index.pl?action=view_job&job_id=5694

PROPONENT'S RESPONSE TO SUBMISSIONS APPENDIX C

See the Department's website at: http://majorprojects.planning.nsw.gov.au/index.pl?action=view_job&job_id=5694

APPENDIX D RECOMMENDED MODIFYING INSTRUMENTS